



710-151 Slater Street Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5H3

> 613-233-8891 csls@csls.ca

CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF LIVING STANDARDS

The Gap Year: An Overview of the Issues

Jacob Greenspon

CSLS Research Report 2017-01

April 2017

Prepared for the Youth Secretariat of the Privy Council Office

# The Gap Year: An Overview of the Issues

# Abstract

Taking a gap year between high school and post-secondary education appears to be an increasingly popular phenomenon in popular culture, among well-known individuals and for Canadian youth. This report reviews the literature on issues related to gap years, with a focus on the Canadian context and the experiences of youth in several similar countries. Overall, taking a gap year appears to be a beneficial choice for many Canadian youth, although the impacts of a gap year are often dependent on the youth's socioeconomic background and the activities they participate in during their gap year. Based on these findings in the literature, a number of options for public policy are proposed to improve knowledge of gap years, increase the take-up of gap years, and make gap years a more accessible option for disadvantaged segments of the population.

# The Gap Year: An Overview of the Issues

# **Table of Contents**

Abstractii
Executive Summary iv
List of Tables
List of Figures
List of Boxes
I. Introduction an Background 1
II. What Is a Gap Year?
A. Defining the Gap Year
B. Diverse Experiences in Delaying between High School and Post-Secondary Education 5
III. Incidence of Gap Years and Delays7
A. The Delay in Canada and the Provinces7
B. The Delay: An International Perspective9
C. Incidence of Delay by Characteristics of Youth10
i. Incidence of Delay by Gender 10
ii. Incidence of Delay by Urban/Rural Community11
iii. Incidence of Gap Year Delay by Race12
IV. Factors Influencing Youth's Decisions to Take a Gap Year 12
A. Personal Growth14
B. Academic Performance in High School14
C. Uncertainty Regarding Future Education16
D. Parental Attitudes regarding Delays17
E. Family Socioeconomic Status and Financial Constraints 17
F. Employment during High School
G. Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred Entry Policies 19
H. Summary
V. Cost and Benefits of Taking a Gap Year
A. Lifetime Earnings
B. Personal Growth and Development
C. Academic Performance in Post-Secondary Education
D. Employment and Earnings following Post-Secondary Education
VI. Public Policies to Incentivize Youth to Take a Gap Year

VII. Lacuna in Knowledge and Agenda for Further Research	29
VIII. Conclusion	31
References	31

# **Executive Summary**

Taking a gap year between high school and post-secondary education appears to be an increasingly popular phenomenon in popular culture, among well-known individuals (for example, Malia Obama) and for Canadian youth. Long an established route to post-secondary education for youth in the United Kingdom and Australia, more Canadian high school graduates appear to be interested in not only delaying entry to post-secondary education, but in spending that time volunteering, traveling, and in other activities aimed to foster their personal growth and development. As these youth may well benefit in the short and long run from such an experience, it is worth exploring the desirability and feasibility of more Canadian youth taking a gap year.

This report reviews the literature on issues related to gap years, with a focus on the Canadian context and the experiences of youth in several similar countries. A gap year is defined as a 15-month period between high school graduation and entry into post-secondary education where a 'gapper' participates in non-work activities with the prospect for personal growth such as travel, volunteering, or part-time study. A 'delay' is more generally defined as any time spent out of school between high school and post-secondary education, irrespective of the student's motivation for delaying and the activities they participated in during this period. Although there are some limitations with the literature reviewed in this report—for example, an absence of official statistics specifically on Canadian youth taking gap years, a plethora of different gap year definitions, and most data being from 10 to 15 years ago—in most cases, the implications of taking a gap year can be drawn from the experiences of students who more generally delay entry to post-secondary education in general.

This report provides an overview of the incidence of gap years and delays in Canada, the United States, Britain and Australia. Research has found that, in the early 2000s, 24 per cent of Canadian post-secondary education students delayed their enrollment for only one year following high school graduation. The incidence of delaying entry to post-secondary education for longer than four months was found to be 43 per cent across Canada. This figure was highest in Ontario (59 per cent) and lowest in Quebec (21 per cent), likely due to the unique structure of its educational system and its low tuition. While there has not been any research on Canadian students' motivation for delaying post-secondary education, a survey of British youth reported that the main reasons given for delaying were to work domestically (43 per cent of delayers), to travel (35 per cent of delayers), and to work abroad (14 per cent of delayers).

The literature on the factors that influence a youth's decision to take a gap year was also reviewed. It was found that youth are more motivated to take a gap year if they desire personal growth and independence, lack academic motivation and are uncertain about their future education plans. Youth were also more likely to take a gap year if they came from a high socioeconomic status family, worked fewer than 20 hours per week in their final year of high school, and if post-secondary institutions allowed deferral of acceptances.

The report also examines the costs and benefits to delaying post-secondary education discussed in the literature. As compared to students who commence their post-secondary education directly after high school, gappers are more academically motivated when they enter post-secondary education, have a better post-secondary academic performance, and enjoy higher employment rates and a wage premium after their post-secondary education. Taking a gap year particularly benefits students who are accepted into a post-secondary institution but are uncertain about their educational and career goals and lack motivation in their studies. However, delaying post-secondary education appears to be less beneficial for youth who do not expect to attain a post-secondary education and spend the delay participating in unstructured activities.

Based on these findings in the literature, a number of options for public policy are proposed to improve knowledge of gap years, increase the take-up of gap years, and make gap years a more accessible option for disadvantaged segments of the population. Actions could be considered to ensure that activities provided by gap year organizations are safe and beneficial for youth, for example setting up an industry-led agency to share best practices and possibly accredit gap year providers. There are several possibilities for the government to increase the take-up of gap years among Canadian youth. The government could incentivize youth (particularly those from lower-income backgrounds) to take a gap year by creating bursaries for youth taking gap years, allowing youth to spend part of their family's Registered Education Savings Plan on structured gap year activities, and supporting structured gap years through statements from political leaders.

The final section of this report identifies lacunae in our knowledge of gap years and proposes an agenda for further research on gap years. Research on gap years requires better data collection, for example by adding questions on gap years to the National Graduates Survey and the Youth in Transition Survey. A standardized definition of gap year should be agreed upon to allow for better international comparisons of gap year taking. Research should be conducted on whether gap year benefits can be gained from summers or semesters abroad.

Overall, taking a gap year appears to be a beneficial choice for many Canadian youth, although the impacts of a gap year are often dependent on the youth's socioeconomic background and the activities they participate in during their gap year. While further research is necessary to confirm that gap years are a beneficial option for certain Canadian high school graduates, the evidence currently available points in this direction.

# **List of Tables**

Table 1: Main Intended Activity of Delayers in Britain (as reported by survey)	7
Table 2: Incidence of Delaying Entry to Post-Secondary Education by More than 4 months	
by Province for Youth Aged 22 to 24 in 2004	9
Table 3: Main Reason for Intending to Delay Entry into Post-Secondary Education in	
Britain (as reported by survey)	. 13
Table 4: Six Most Common Reasons for Delaying Entry to Post-Secondary Education in	
the United States (as reported by survey)	. 13
Table 5: Summary of Factors Influencing Youth's Decisions to Delay Post-Secondary	
Education	. 20

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Typology of Delayers	. 3
Figure 2: Options in Choosing Gap Year Activities	. 6
Figure 3: Per Cent of University of Western Australia Students that Delayed Entry by One	
Year following High School Graduation, by Tertiary Entrance Rank (TER) Percentile	15
Figure 4: Per Cent of University of Western Australia Students that Delayed Entry to Post-	
Secondary Education by One Year, by Socioeconomic Status of Family	18
Figure 5: Employment Rates of 22-24 Year Olds in the Labour Market in Canada, 2004	25

# **List of Boxes**

Box 1: The American Gap Association	. 7
Box 2: Sample of Gap Year Programs offered by Universities	19

## I. Introduction an Background<sup>1</sup>

The tradition of taking a period of time, generally one year, between the completion of secondary studies and entry into post-secondary education is known colloquially as a gap year. Already a well-established tradition in the United Kingdom and Australia, taking a gap year appears to be an increasingly popular option for high school graduates in Canada and the United States. As youth may well benefit both in the short and long run from such an experience, it is worth exploring the desirability and feasibility of more Canadian young people taking a gap year.

This report reviews the literature on issues related to gap years, with a focus on the Canadian context. However, there are a number of limitations with the literature on gap years in Canada, in addition to the absence of official statistics specifically on the number of Canadian youth who take a gap year. First, each study typically defines a gap year differently. Therefore while studies utilizing large-sample survey data have examined the experiences of youth who delay entry into post-secondary education-including several in Canada-these studies differ in whether they exclude youth based on their reasons for delaying, the activities they participated in during their time off, and, in some cases, the length of the delay. Second, some students are exante delayers (upon graduating high school they are committed to entering post-secondary education after a delay) and some students are only ex-post delayers (upon graduating high school they do not plan on later entering post-secondary education, but later change their intentions), but in most studies the data are not differentiated between each group. Finally, much of the literature on gap years is based on data from 10 to 15 years ago, and therefore may be less relevant now given changes in the educational system, labour market, and other factors. Despite these limitations, we believe that in most cases the implications of taking a gap year can be drawn from the experience of students who delay entry to post-secondary education in general.

A strict definition for a 'gap year' is established in section two of this report. While youth may delay entry into post-secondary education in general for any period of time and for a variety of reasons, in this report the term 'gap year' refers specifically to a 15-month period between high school graduation and entry into post-secondary education during which the 'gapper' participates for at least part of the period in non-work activities with the prospect for personal growth such as structured or unstructured travel, volunteering, community service, or part-time study. Students who take a gap year according to the definition used in this report are therefore a subset of the larger group of students that delay their post-secondary education. The various activities that youth can participate in during their gap year are also explored in section two, as well as the incidence of participation in each activity where statistics are available.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This report was written by Jacob Greenspon under the supervision of Andrew Sharpe. We would like to thank Claudette Russell, Executive Director of the Youth Secretariat in the Privy Council Office, for the invitation to prepare this report and PCO officials for comments on an earlier version of the report.

In section three the incidence of gap years and delays in general are reported for Canada (nationally and in each province) as well as for several countries, where data are available. Section four examines several of the common reasons cited in the literature for taking a gap year such as students' personal growth and development, their academic performance in high school and motivation, their uncertainty regarding their future education plans, the socioeconomic status of their family, and more. An important factor is post-secondary institutions' policies regarding deferral of acceptances, as well as structured gap year programs offered by some universities.

The fifth section reviews several costs and benefits to taking a gap year (or, where data are not available, delaying post-secondary education in general) discussed in the literature and assesses the evidence for each. The research examined in this report shows that, as compared to students who commence their post-secondary education directly after high school, gappers are more academically motivated when they enter post-secondary education, have a better post-secondary academic performance, and enjoy higher employment rates and a wage premium when they complete their post-secondary education

Based on these findings, policy options are outlined in section six. There are a number of potential public policies for increasing the take-up of gap years among Canadian youth, ranging from financial assistance such as bursaries for youth taking gap years and support for structured gap year programs, to raising public awareness and perceptions of gap years through statements from political leaders. On the other hand, delays between high school and post-secondary education that are unlikely to benefit youth should be discouraged. Section seven identifies several lacunae in our knowledge of gap years and proposes an agenda for further research on the gap year issue. In particular, more specific data on the incidence of gap years in Canada and the outcomes for gappers would build a better understanding of trends in gap years overall.

Taking a gap year appears to be a beneficial choice for Canadian youth, although the impact of a delay is often dependent on the youth's socioeconomic background and the activities they participate in during their time away from education. While further research is necessary to robustly confirm the conclusion that gap years are a beneficial option for Canadian high school graduates and should be promoted by the government, the evidence currently available points in this direction.

# II. What Is a Gap Year?

### A. Defining the Gap Year

Several definitions for the term 'gap year' are used in the literature on youth who delay entry to post-secondary education. Indeed, there is little consistency in the use of the term 'gap year' between studies. For some, any period of time spent away from formal, full-time studies after high school graduation is considered a gap year (Tomkowicz and Bushnik, 2003; Ferrer and Menendez, 2014; Hango, 2008; Lovestrand, 2015). Others limit the period of time that can be considered a gap year to one or two years (Lumsden and Stanwick, 2012; Birch and Miller, 2007). Still others require that for youth's time off to be considered a gap year, it must be "for

**Figure 1: Typology of Delayers** 



the purpose of personal growth and learning" (Hoe, 2014) or "with an expectation of some personal enrichment or development...Otherwise, it is merely a break or vacation" (Lovestrand, 2015:5). In their report on gap years by Australian youth, Lumsden and Stanwick (2012) outline three types of gap years (with significant overlap): academic gap years, used to refine study and career goals through working, informal learning or volunteering; travelling or leisure gap years, for example 'backpacking'; and economic gap years, where students work to save money for their future education.

Figure 1 presents a typology on delayers, making two crucial distinctions. The first is between ex-ante delayers and ex-post delayers, and the second, under ex-ante delayers between involuntary and voluntary delayers.

This report proposes a definition for future policy research on gap year issues. Youth are considered to have taken a 'gap year' only if their time off from full-time education meets the following conditions:

• Length of delay: the delay between high school graduation and entry into postsecondary education is 15 months long—the period between graduation from high school in June and entry into post-secondary education in September of the following year.<sup>2</sup>

- Ex-ante view of delay as only a break from education: upon high school graduation youth are committed to entering post-secondary education (university, community college, vocational school, or an apprenticeship) following their gap year, and have either already been accepted to a post-secondary institution and deferred entry, or are planning to apply for admission in the next application cycle.
- Activities during delay period: during their gap year, youth participate for at least part of the period in non-work activities with the prospect for personal growth such as structured or unstructured travel, volunteering, community service, or part-time formal or informal study.

Under this definition, the youth may have planned far in advance to take a gap year, or it may have been a last-minute decision. For example, if the youth was not accepted into their preferred post-secondary education program, they may decide to take a gap year to study part-time in order to improve their marks for re-application.<sup>3</sup>

The above definition of a gap year is narrower than the definition used in much of the literature. Many studies consider all youth who have delayed entry to post-secondary education to have taken a gap year, regardless of their reasons for delaying, the activities they participated in during their time off, and, in some cases, the length of the delay.<sup>4</sup> Students who take a gap year according to the definition used in this report are a subset of this larger group of students that delay their post-secondary education, and are estimated by Hoe (2014) to make up only one third of all students that delayed.<sup>5</sup>

Studies that look generally at all youth who delay their entry into post-secondary education from high school provide insights into numerous issues surrounding gap years. However, the wider scope of these studies can lead to conclusions that are inconsistent with the literature on youth who take gap years specifically and, given anecdotal evidence, are unlikely to apply to gappers. For example, the finding by Hango and de Broucker (2007) that 48 per cent of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Youth may instead take a 'gap interval' of more or less than 15 months, for example if they finish high school in June and start their post-secondary education in the following January at the start of the winter semester, or take off two years between graduating from high school and entering post-secondary education.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Crawford and Cribb (2012) estimated from the Longitudinal Study of Young People in England (LSYPE) that 28 per cent of students who took a gap year had not planned to take a break before their post-secondary education when asked about it before completing their secondary education.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>For example, studies by Hango (2008 and 2011a) and Ferrer and Menendez (2014) on Canadian youth delaying entry to post-secondary education after high school, and by Bozick and De Luca (2005) on U.S. youth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Hoe (2014) based her estimates on the 2003-04 Beginning Postsecondary Students Longitudinal Study, which allowed delayers to indicate up to six reasons for delaying: work, military, marriage or family responsibilities, health problems, travel, or other reasons. Hoe then defined 'gap year reasons' as students within these groups that delayed for one year and for one of the following combinations of reasons: travel only, travel and other, travel and work, travel and work and other, work only, and work and other (2014:26).

Aboriginal youth took a gap year compared to 39 per cent of non-Aboriginal youth is highly unlikely considering the conventional view of a gap year.<sup>6</sup>

Given the extremely limited number of studies on youth who take a gap year according to the definition used in this report, data are cited from studies that use a broader definition of gap year. In order to maintain a distinction between the two types of data, hereafter the terms 'delay' and 'delayers' are used to describe all students who experience a delay between high school and post-secondary education, regardless of their motivation or the activities they participate in during their time off, while the terms 'gap year' and 'gappers' are used to refer to delays in education that meet the descriptive conditions outlined above. This often results in research findings being reported using different terms than used by the authors of the research. Although some students are ex-ante delayers (upon graduating from high school they are committed to entering post-secondary education after a delay) and some students are only ex-post delayers (upon graduating high school they do not plan on later entering post-secondary education, but change their intentions), the data do not differentiate between each group.

# **B.** Diverse Experiences in Delaying between High School and Post-Secondary Education

A significant literature has emerged on the causes and effects of high school graduates delaying entry to post-secondary education. However, much of this literature does not recognize the variety of reasons youth choose to delay entry to post-secondary education and the activities they participate in during their time out of school. Youth may delay their entry to post-secondary education so they can work to save money for tuition or gain life experience and independence (Lovestrand, 2015). They may also take time off to study part-time during a gap period, either to improve their application profile for post-secondary education or to prepare academically for a program they have already been admitted to (Curtis et al., 2012). This learning may be formal, through classes they enroll in, or informal, through individual self-learning.

Figure 2, adapted from Jones (2004) for the Canadian context, outlines how youth decide on their gap year activities. They first choose whether they will be located in Canada during their gap year or travel abroad (although they may spend part of the year in both locations), and then choose whether they will participate in a structured gap year program (described below) or create their own plan of activities. Finally, the gappers choose which activities they will participate in during the gap year. Although not all youth make those choices in that specific order, Figure 2 provides a conceptual framework of the options available to each gapper when planning their gap year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Although Hango and de Broucker (2007) use the term 'gap year' in their study of Canadian youth, according to the definitions used in this report the more appropriate term would be 'delay' since they include all youth who took time off between high school and post-secondary education.



Figure 2: Options in Choosing Gap Year Activities

Source: Adapted for Canadian context from Jones (2004).

During their time off youth may participate in a variety of activities that fit their needs and desires including paid work, volunteer, travel, part-time study, or a combination of several activities. Crawford and Cribb (2012) analyzed the survey responses of British youth who reported what activities they participated in during their time off between high school and postsecondary education. The main activity respondents reported participating in during their delay are listed in Table 1. The most popular reason given by youth for taking a gap year was to work in Britain, which reflects the more inclusive definition of gap year used in Crawford and Cribb (2012) as compared to this report. However, a plurality of youth reported that they intended to go abroad, either mainly to travel (35 per cent) or to work abroad (14 per cent).

The respondents were also asked to list all of the activities they participated in. Most of the youth surveyed worked for at least part of the gap year period: 84 per cent worked in Britain and 16 per cent worked abroad.<sup>7</sup> 57 per cent of the respondents also reported traveling abroad for at least part of the gap year and 17 per cent volunteered abroad, while 20 per cent of respondents remained in Britain to travel (Crawford and Cribb, 2012).

The role of international travel in gap years has received much attention in the literature.<sup>8</sup> Moreover, in several countries, including Canada, a 'gap year industry' has sprung up that, in exchange for substantial fees, provide youth with structured programming focused around travel and volunteer experiences abroad (Lovestrand, 2015). These programs are designed to "combine the hedonism of tourism with the altruism of development work" (Simpson, 2004:681). The activities are set up, managed and facilitated by a for-profit or non-profit organization and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Survey respondents could select both options because they were asked to list all activities they participated in during their gap year (Crawford and Cribb, 2012:28).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>For example, see Lyons et al. (2012) and Simpson (2004).

Main Intended Activity	Share of Delayers (Per Cent)
Working in Britain	43
Travelling	35
Working Abroad	14
Training/Studying	4
Other	3
Total	100
Source: Crawford and Cribb (2012)	
Note: Sum of activities may not equal 100 due t	to rounding.

#### Table 1: Main Intended Activity of Delayers in Britain (as reported by survey)

#### **Box 1: The American Gap Association**

The American Gap Association (http://www.americangap.org) is a non-profit accreditation and standards-setting organization co-founded by several gap year program providers in 2012 to improve "information-sharing, development of best-practices, and objective evaluation" within the gap year industry. It provides research on the benefits of gap years, serves as an "information and advocacy hub" for university admissions departments and guidance counselors, and works to increase the awareness of gap years within the American educational system. It also provides a listing of all organizations offering structured gap year programs that meets its standards of accreditation and organizes an annual conference on issues relevant to the gap year industry and educators (American Gap Association, 2017).

typically provide some level of training and instruction before the participant is placed in an organized program abroad (Jones, 2004). However, there does not appear to be any body in Canada that accredits or oversees the structured gap year programs available to Canadian youth. In the United States such a quality assurance role is performed by the American Gap Association (see Box 1 for details). The Year Out Group is a similar organization operating in the United Kingdom (Jones, 2004).<sup>9</sup>

# **III. Incidence of Gap Years and Delays**

# A. The Delay in Canada and the Provinces

There are no official statistics specifically on the number of Canadian youth who take a gap year, although anecdotal evidence suggests it is an increasingly popular option for high school graduates.<sup>10</sup> Data on the number of students who delay entry to post-secondary education (for unspecified activities that include gap years and others) indicates that many students elect to take this route to post-secondary education, though it is unclear in the data what share of these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>http://www.yearoutgroup.org.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>For example, as reported in Counter (2013), Lindzon (2015), and White (2017).

youth knew ex-ante upon graduating high school that they would later enter post-secondary education. The main source of these data is the Statistics Canada Youth in Transitions Survey (YITS), which collected information from a cohort of youth aged 18 in 2000 and followed-up every two years thereafter, ending in 2008. Hango (2011a) reports that according to YITS, 49 per cent of Canadian high school graduates started post-secondary education 3 months after graduation, while 73 per cent had started post-secondary education within 15 months of graduation and 81 per cent had started post-secondary education within 27 months of graduation. This implies that 24 per cent of Canadian youth delayed by 12 months and 8 per cent of youth delayed entry to post-secondary education by 2 years (27 months), while 19 per cent had not entered post-secondary education by 2008.

Ferrer and Menendez (2014) use data from another survey, the Canadian National Survey of Graduates (NSG), conducted in 1997 with a follow-up survey in 2000.<sup>11</sup> The NSG data show that of the Canadian post-secondary students graduating in 1995 who had entered their post-secondary institution from high school, 17.3 per cent of university graduates delayed their entry by a year or more while 50.6 per cent of graduates from non-university institutions (trade, vocational, and college students) delayed entry after high school (Ferrer and Menendez, 2014). These delayers were either working full time, unemployed, or out of the labour force before entering post-secondary education. Hango (2008) also found that in terms of delayers' eventual post-secondary education destinations, 4.4 per cent of delayers enrolled in diploma, certificate, and apprenticeship programs, 29.9 per cent in college and CÉGEP programs, and 57.6 per cent in university undergraduate programs.

Hango (2008) analyzed YITS responses to assess differences among the provinces in the incidence of delaying entry to post-secondary education by more than four months following graduation from high school. These results are presented in Table 2. Ontario saw the highest incidence of its youth delay entry into post-secondary education, at 58.9 per cent, while Alberta had the next highest incidence at 50.0 per cent. Quebec had the lowest share of its post-secondary students delay their entry into post-secondary education, with only 20.9 per cent of students delaying. Hango (2008) explains this is due in part to the unique structure of Quebec's educational system: prior to entering university, youth in Quebec are required to attend a CÉGEP following completion of Grade 11 at age 17, and the vast majority go on to CÉGEP directly, without delay. Moreover, the low cost of CÉGEP means that compared to other provinces, Quebec students are less likely to need to take time working before their post-secondary education in order to pay their post-secondary tuition (Tomkowicz and Bushnik, 2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The most recent iteration of the National Survey of Graduates was conducted for the class of 2009/2010 in 2013.

Province of Last High School	Incidence of Delaying Entry (by Post-Secondary Education Participants)
Newfoundland and Labrador	41.7
Prince Edward Island	31.0
Nova Scotia	26.5
New Brunswick	33.1
Quebec	20.9
Ontario	58.9
Manitoba	43.2
Saskatchewan	41.1
Alberta	50.0
British Columbia	41.5
Canada	43.2
Source: Calculations from Hango (2008)	

 Table 2: Incidence of Delaying Entry to Post-Secondary Education by More than 4

 months by Province for Youth Aged 22 to 24 in 2004

## **B. The Delay: An International Perspective**

Generally, the majority of young people continue to take the traditional path of entering post-secondary education directly after graduating from high school. However, anecdotal evidence suggests that taking a gap year (as narrowly defined in this report) is becoming an increasingly popular option for university-bound high school graduates in Canada. While the growing popularity of gap years is clear across the several countries examined in this report, it is more difficult to compare the levels of popularity in each country due to methodological differences in studies of gap year participation across countries. In addition, different definitions and survey methodologies sometimes lead to conflicting statistics on gap year participation within a single country. There has not yet been any research that compares the incidence of gap years or delays across the countries examined in this section using the same methodology for each country. Nonetheless, careful review of the existing literature allows for some inferences to be drawn about the relative popularity of taking a gap year across countries and through time.

According to Lumsden and Stanwick (2012), the concept of the gap year originated with wealthy British families in the 1960s that could afford to have their children put off higher education for a year after the completion of high school. Some trace this back to the late 17<sup>th</sup> to early 19<sup>th</sup> century 'Grand Tour' traditionally taken by young British noblemen to see the world before starting their career (O'Shea, 2011; Lovestrand, 2015).

Although taking a gap year was still considered relatively rare in the 1980s, its popularity increased in the 1990s and early 2000s, with one sign being a significant growth in the number of commercial organizations that provide opportunities for British youth during their gap year(Jones, 2004). The available data on gap year incidence among British youth suggests there has been an upward trend in recent years. Birch and Miller (2007) report that in 1997, 6.2 per cent of British students deferred entry into university and that this share increased to 7.9 per cent

of students in 2002. Crawford and Cribb (2012) found that of the British youth surveyed that had already applied to university or were likely to apply and were first eligible to enter in 2008, 12.5 per cent intended to take a gap year. Hoe (2014) reports that studies on British gappers show that gap year participants are predominantly white, disability-free, and females from middle-class backgrounds who have attended private schools.

Delaying post-secondary education for gap year reasons appears to be well-established in Australia and an increasingly popular option for high school graduates. In 1974, 4 per cent of Australian students were estimated to have deferred their university education, while by 2004 this rate had increased to 11 per cent (Birch and Miller, 2007). From their analysis of the series of Longitudinal Surveys of Australian Youth (LSAY), Lumsden and Stanwick (2012) found that in the 2009-2010 academic year, 24 per cent of Australian students took a delay between high school and further education (22 per cent took a one year gap), compared to 25 per cent in 2006-2007 (20 per cent took a one year gap), 16 per cent in 2002-2003(12 per cent took a one year gap), and 10 per cent in 1999-2000(7 per cent took a one year gap). They note that the increase in the incidence of delayed post-secondary education over that ten-year period could be explained by a growing economy that provided plentiful employment opportunities for high school graduates as well as an increase in the financial costs of studying between 2000 and 2010 (Lumsden and Stanwick, 2012). Some also claim that Australian youth from high-income backgrounds take a gap year mainly to qualify for the Youth Allowance program that they would otherwise not qualify for when considered a dependent of their parents (Curtis et al., 2012), although others have cast doubt on this claim (Polesel and Klatt, 2014).

The similarity between the Canadian and American higher education systems in structure and curricula allows for greater comparability of their gappers and delayers than most other countries. Bull (2006) argues that taking a gap year "was virtually unknown in the United States" in 1980 but that there has been a greater awareness and acceptance of this option in the decades since. According to Horn et al. (2005), one-third of the students entering post-secondary education in 1995 had delayed their entrance by a year or more after graduating high school, although this share includes far more students than only those who took a gap year. Wells and Lynch (2012) reported that 11 per cent of high school seniors surveyed in 2004 planned to delay their post-secondary education for at least a year. Hoe (2014) found from the 2004/2009 Beginning Postsecondary Longitudinal Study (BPS) that 8.2 per cent of the students surveyed delayed their entry into post-secondary education by one year while 83.0 per cent entered postsecondary education directly after high school (the remaining 8.8 per cent delayed for a period between two and eight years). Only 5.0 per cent of the sample, or 61.0 per cent of all students that delayed one year, took time off for gap year reasons, although the definition of gap year used in Hoe (2014) includes students who delay their post-secondary education in order to work.<sup>12</sup>

# C. Incidence of Delay by Characteristics of Youth

## i. Incidence of Delay by Gender

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The definition and methodology of 'gap year' reasons for delaying used in Hoe (2014) is explained in footnote5.

Research has found that delayers tend to be male, although the difference is not huge. Hango and de Broucker (2007) reported that of the Canadian students surveyed in 2003, 37.4 per cent of female students had delayed compared to 41.8 per cent of male students. They also found, using a regression estimate of the odds of each group taking a certain 'education pathway' due to certain (independent variable) background factors, that females are about 20 per cent less likely than males to follow a delayer path than a non-delayer path (Hango and de Broucker, 2007). In addition, Bozick and DeLuca (2005) found that in the United States males delay their entry to post-secondary education by about two months more on average than females.

The evidence on gender differences among gappers specifically (rather than delayers in general) is less clear. Hoe (2014) found that of the American students surveyed that delayed entry to post-secondary education for gap year reasons (which, according to Hoe (2014), include work), 52 per cent were male and 48 per cent were female. Moreover, while males represented 44 per cent of the sample, among delayers, they represented 56 per cent of delayers who gave travel as one of their reasons for delaying their post-secondary education. However, Jones (2004) reports that in the United Kingdom, women typically outnumber men among gap year takers. Lumsden and Stanwick (2012), who also included youth that took gap years in order to work, found that 25 per cent of female Australian students took a gap year, compared to 22 per cent of male students. It is possible that there are cultural differences between the United States, the United Kingdom, and Australia that may lead to more gappers being female in the United Kingdom and Australia but more gappers being male in the United States, but further evidence is necessary before such a conclusion is reached.

#### ii. Incidence of Delay by Urban/Rural Community

There is no available data on the incidence of gap years among students from urban versus rural areas. However, there has been some research on how students' tendency to delay their entry into post-secondary education in general is affected by their community type. There are conflicting findings regarding whether youth from rural areas are more likely to delay their education than youth from urban areas. In Canada, the median length of time between high school graduation and entry into post-secondary education was 8 months for youth from rural communities compared to 3 months for youth from urban population centres (Hango, 2011a). On the other hand, Hango (2008) found that among respondents to the Youths in Transition Survey that identified as having urban residence, 31.1 per cent were delayers while 25.9 per cent of respondents with non-urban residence were delayers. This latter finding could be reconciled with the result in Hango (2011a) if fewer youth from rural areas delay compared to youth from urban areas, but rural delayers tend to delay for a much longer period of time than urban delayers. For youth in the United States, Bozick and DeLuca (2005) found that in youth from rural areas typically delay enrolling in post-secondary education by 9.1 months on average, compared to 7.7 months for students from urban areas and 7.8 months for students from suburban areas.

Differences in delays between students from urban and rural communities has received more attention in the Australian literature on delayers. Lumsden and Stanwick (2012) found that in the 2009-2010 academic year, 53 per cent of students from rural areas delayed post-secondary entry by 12 to 24 months, compared to only 20 per cent of students from metropolitan areas. A more limited study of students at the University of Western Australia, showed that students from

rural areas outside the capital city Perth were three times more likely to take a 1-year break between high school and university than those from Perth (Birch and Miller, 2007). Finally, Polesel and Klatt (2014), found that youth in the state of Victoria from "non-metropolitan" (rural) areas were almost twice as likely to defer entry to university than students from metropolitan areas, typically citing financial stresses and travel-related factors.

#### iii. Incidence of Gap Year Delay by Race

There is only data available by race for delayers in the United States. Hoe (2014) found that of US students who took a gap year (including those who only worked), 67 per cent were white (compared to 64 per cent of the total sample of students), 8 per cent were black/African American (12 per cent of total sample), 18 per cent were Hispanic/Latino (14 per cent of total sample), and 4 per cent were Asian (5 per cent of total sample). Moreover, an analysis of the predictor variables for taking a gap year showed that African American students had lower odds of taking a gap year than white students. On the other hand Bozick and DeLuca (2005) found that, on average, white students enrolled in post-secondary education eight months after completing high school, compared to an average delay of 10 months for Hispanic students and 11 months for black students, although this finding was for delayed enrollment in general rather than gap years specifically.

#### IV. Factors Influencing Youth's Decisions to Take a Gap Year

There are a number of factors that play a role in youth's decision on whether to take a gap year before their post-secondary education. This section reviews several common factors that are cited in the literature and assesses the evidence for how each factor influences youth in their decision on whether to take a gap year. For some factors there are only data available on how they influence decisions to delay entry into post-secondary education in general, rather than on decisions to take a gap year specifically. The factors examined include personal growth motivations, the student's academic performance in high school, their academic motivation and aspiration, the student's uncertainty regarding their future education plans, their parents' attitudes regarding taking a gap year, the socioeconomic status of the student's family and the financial constraints they face, whether the student was employed in high school, and finally post-secondary institutions' policies regarding deferred acceptance as well as structured gap year programs offered by some universities.

Crawford and Cribb (2012) report on the main ex-ante motivation of British youth who intended to, and ended up, delaying their entry into post-secondary education. These results are listed in Table 3. The most popular reason given by British youth was to become independent, although it is ambiguous as to whether this refers to financial, emotional, or other types of independence. Nearly a quarter of delayers reported being motivated mainly by a desire to have a

Main Reason for Delay	Percentage of Delayers (Per Cent)
Become Independent	40
Break from Study	24
Earn Money	17
Get Work Experience	10
Other	9
Total	100
Source: Crawford and Cribb (2012)	

 Table 3: Main Reason for Intending to Delay Entry into Post-Secondary Education

 in Britain (as reported by survey)

 Table 4: Six Most Common Reasons for Delaying Entry to Post-Secondary

 Education in the United States (as reported by survey)

Stated Delay Reasons	Percentage of Total Entrants to Post-Secondary Education (Per Cent)	Percentage of Delayers (Per Cent)	
Work	5.7	33.6	
Work and Travel	2.3	13.2	
Work and Health	1.9	11.4	
Work and Married/Family	0.9	5.4	
Work, Married/Family, and Health	0.8	4.7	
Work, Married/Family, and Travel	0.7	4.4	
Other	0.5	3.0	
Total	13	76	
Source: Reproduced from Hoe (2014: 35)			
Note: 'Other' refers to a stated reason that was not among the five reasons for delaying recorded in the			
survey (work, military, marriage or family responsibilities, health problems, and travel). The 'missing' 24			
per cent of responses not included are reasons for delaying that were reported by fewer than 3.0 per cent			
of survey respondents.			

break from education, while 17 per cent reported their primary desire as to earn money during their delay.

Hoe (2014) reports the results of a survey of American students who delayed their entry into post-secondary education. The students could indicate delaying for any combination of reasons, including work, military, marriage or family responsibilities, health problems, travel, or other reasons. The most common reported reasons for delay are presented in Table 4. Among the entire sample of students, 33.6 per cent of all delayers reported working as the only reason they delayed entry into post-secondary education, though this is enlarged to include 86.1 per cent of all delayers when respondents listed work alongside other reasons. Nearly 30 per cent of respondents indicated that travel was at least part of their motivation for delaying entry. Although few respondents reported travelling as the only reason for their delay—likely because it is expensive and typically unattractive to travel for an entire year—13.2 per cent of students reported delaying for a combination of work and travel.

#### A. Personal Growth

Youth who take a gap year often explain that they sought a channel for personal growth (O'Shea, 2011), especially if they spend their gap year volunteering (Lyons et al., 2012). The "new perspectives" (Lovestrand, 2015) gained through a gap year may differ depending on the activities youth participate in during their period—for example, an international perspective versus a better understanding of the experiences of more disadvantaged members of their home community. In any case, however, these youths feel that it is not possible to gain these perspectives through the traditional direct entry to post-secondary education. Their personal growth motivations may be altruistic (for example, volunteering in a developing country) or non-altruistic.

Youth may also want to develop greater independence from being on their own, out of a "sheltered life" on an "academic treadmill" (O'Shea, 2011:568). Hulstrand (2010:50) adds that by taking a gap year youth can "gain greater confidence, a clearer direction, and invaluable life experience."Jones (2004:37) summarizes gappers' most commonly stated desires as to "gain a broader horizon on life, experience different people, cultures and places, gain personal life skills,[and] to make a contribution to society." Hango (2011a) explains that young adults will become better citizens from having had experiences outside of the secondary and post-secondary education systems that allowed them to learn about themselves and the world around them. This "self-discovery" will benefit the youth who take gap years as well as society in general (Hango, 2011a:10).

#### **B. Academic Performance in High School**

The literature appears conclusive that academic performance in high school is negatively correlated with delaying entry to post-secondary education in general and suggests a similar impact on youth's likelihood to take a gap year specifically. Hango (2011a) examined the academic performance of Canadian youth who later delayed their entry to post-secondary education after high school (but did not necessarily take a gap year). There was a 3 month median delay between high school and post-secondary education for youth with a high (80-100 per cent) GPA in their final year of high school, an 8 month median delay for youth with medium-high (70-79 per cent) GPA, 19 month median delay for youth with medium (60-69 per cent) GPA, and 59 month median delay for youth with low (50-59 per cent) GPA. The negative effect of marks on the median length of delay before entering post-secondary education remained very robust in the presence of all other variables (Hango, 2011a).

Tomkowicz and Bushnik (2003) found similar results and pointed out that having low marks would have negatively affected the student's chance of getting into their desired program or institution, therefore causing a delay in enrolment if they had no other program in mind or wanted to improve their marks and reapply to their preferred program. Finally, both Rowan-Kenyon (2007) and Bozick and DeLuca (2005) had similar findings for delayers in the United States.

Hoe (2014) found that 43 per cent of American post-secondary students who delayed for gap year reasons (including work) had a high school Grade Point Average (GPA) of less than

3.0, 36 per cent had a GPA between 3.0 and 3.4, and 21 per cent had a GPA between 3.5 and 4.0. Comparatively, among students who did not delay, 28 per cent had a GPA of less than 3.0, a similar share had a GPA between 3.0 and 3.4 and 36 per cent had a GPA between 3.5 and 4.0.

Lumsden and Stanwick (2012) found similar results for Australian delayers. In their study of students at University of Western Australia, Birch and Miller (2007) also found a negative correlation between the students' propensity to have delayed their entry to post-secondary education by one year and their high school academic performance as measured by their Tertiary Entrance Rank (TER), their relative performance by percentile on high school leaving exams. These results are presented in Figure 3. Of students with a TER below 76, 14.8 per cent delayed, compared to 9.2 per cent of students with a TER between 76 and 85, 7.7 per cent of students with TER between 86 and 90, 4.8 per cent of students with TER between 91 and 95, and only 5.7 per cent of students with a TER above 95.

In contrast to the above results, however, Crawford and Cribb (2012) found that in the United Kingdom students who report they are taking a gap year are more likely to attend better universities, with 44 per cent of self-identified gap year takers attending "high status" universities compared with 37 per cent of those who go straight to university.<sup>13</sup> One potential



# Figure 3: Per Cent of University of Western Australia Students that Delayed Entry by One Year following High School Graduation, by Tertiary Entrance Rank (TER) Percentile

explanation could be that these gappers improved their high school grades through part-time study during the gap year and then reapplied to university.

Source: Birch and Miller (2007)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Crawford and Cribb (2012) defined a "high status institution" as any university with a research quality (as measured by the 2001 Research Assessment Exercise Score) at least equal to the lowest scoring member of the 20 Russell Group universities as of 2006.

Aside from academic performance, studies in several countries have also shown that students who are less academically motivated are more likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education, although the relationship between academic motivation and students who take gap years specifically is less clear. In Canada, Australia, and the United States, survey evidence shows that students with more positive attitudes towards school and a higher level of academic aspiration and motivation are less likely to delay entering post-secondary education (Curtis et al., 2012; Hango, 2011a; Martin, 2010; Niu and Tienda, 2013).<sup>14</sup> Lovestrand (2015:9) explains that many students feel 'burned out' by their final year of high school, or feel unprepared for the "rigors" of post-secondary education.

In cases where students take a gap year because they lack the motivation to continue on to post-secondary education, there is some evidence from Australia that taking a gap year addresses these "motivational deficits" and improves academic outcomes in the students' post-secondary education (Martin, 2010: 573). The impact of a gap year on academic motivation and performance is discussed in full in the next section of this report.

#### **C. Uncertainty Regarding Future Education**

Some students may take a gap year in order to give themselves time to think out their educational and career plan before taking a costly decision to enroll in a program that may not fit their goals. O'Shea (2011) notes some British students reported delaying entry into postsecondary education in order to clarify their future life plans, for example in terms of their program of study, career goals, and where to live. These motivations are echoed by Australian students surveyed by Lumsden and Stanwick (2012), who found that delaying allowed them time to explore their options in the face of uncertainty. However, for some students this appears not to be the intended course of action. Wells and Lynch (2012) report that some US students needed the delay because they had failed to gain acceptance into their preferred program or educational institution and did not have an alternative plan ready. Crawford and Cribb (2012) report that 28 per cent of British self-identified gappers had not planned to take a break when asked about it before completing their secondary education. Lumsden and Stanwick (2012) found an even higher share, 59.5 per cent, of Australian delayers did not intend on delaying entry to postsecondary education after their final year of high school.<sup>15</sup> Whether taking a gap year was planned in advance or students were forced to rethink their plans later, taking the time to think seems to be an important motivation for many gappers who are unsure what their career goals are or what educational plan best fits them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Martin (2010) measured the academic motivation of Australian students through the Motivation and Engagement Scale for High Schoolers (MES-HS), which assesses motivation with self-rated scores on "three adaptive cognitive dimensions (self-efficacy, valuing, mastery orientation), three adaptive behavioral dimensions (persistence, planning, task management), three impeding or maladaptive cognitive dimensions (anxiety, failure avoidance, uncertain control), and two maladaptive behavioral dimensions (self-handicapping, disengagement)" (Martin, 2010: 565).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Of the 17-year-olds first interviewed in 2006 about their post-high school plans, 9.7 per cent said they intended to take a gap year. However, 24 per cent of students took a gap year after Year 12, suggesting considerably more 'unintentional' gap year taking (Lumsden and Stanwick, 2012).

#### **D.** Parental Attitudes regarding Delays

Hango and de Broucker (2007) found a strong relationship in Canada between parental expectations of their children's education and youth not delaying the start of post-secondary education, especially if their educational pathway culminated in a university degree (Hango and de Broucker, 2007). Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education if their parents have high expectation that they will go on to higher education (Hango, 2011a). One measure of expectations is the frequency with which youth and parent talked about future education and career options. Hango (2011a) found that the median length of delay between high school graduation and entry into post-secondary education was 14 and 15 months for youth who never talked about future education options with their parents or only discussed these options less than once per year (respectively), but only 4-3 months delay if youth and parent had those discussions more frequently—a few times a year, few times a month, or few times a week. The median delay was higher, 9 months, for youth who talked daily about future education options with their parents feel their children needed extra persuasion about the merits of post-secondary education.

There is no research in Canada on the relationship between parental expectations for their children's education and their tendency to take a gap year. In Australia and the United Kingdom research has found that parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year, perhaps because it is a more established tradition in these countries(Crawford and Cribb, 2012; Curtis et al., 2012; Lumsden and Stanwick, 2012). This may also reflect that, at least in countries other than Canada, parents who have less faith regarding their children's willingness to go on to future education are less likely to allow their children to take a gap year.

#### **E. Family Socioeconomic Status and Financial Constraints**

Anecdotal evidence suggests that gappers tend to be from families with high socioeconomic status. Crawford and Cribb (2012) suggest that in the United Kingdom those who plan on taking a gap year tend to come from "middle- to upperclass families with highly educated parents," while Lumsden and Stanwick (2012) claim that compared to British gappers, in Australia gappers are more evenly distributed across all levels of socioeconomic status.

Research on delayers (as opposed to gappers specifically) provides considerable evidence that a students' socioeconomic status is negatively related to their tendency to delay postsecondary education. In Canada, young adults who complete university degrees from higher socioeconomic backgrounds were less likely to delay the start of post-secondary education compared to youth from families of lower socioeconomic status (Hango and de Broucker, 2007). Similarly, Goldrick-Rab and Han (2011) found that of American high school graduates who come from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution, only about 5 per cent postpone post-secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile, which, according to Wells and Lynch (2012), suggests that students from families with a lower socioeconomic status delay enrolling in post-secondary education more by necessity than by choice.





Interestingly, Birch and Miller (2007) found a non-linear relationship between students' socioeconomic background and their tendency to delay post-secondary education, depicted in Figure 4.<sup>16</sup> According to their survey of University of Western Australia students, 8.4 per cent of students in the lowest quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle (second lowest) quartile, 4.1 per cent of students in the high-middle (second highest) quartile, and 6.5 per cent of students in the highest quartile. The 'U-shape' of this curve could be because lower-income students take time off out of necessity, because they need to work and save money for school, while higher-income students take a gap year primarily to travel, volunteer, or for leisure activities. Two, larger sample size, studies of Australian and American students found that higher-income students were less likely to take time off between high school and post-secondary education than low-income students, although both studies used a definition of gap year that included 'economic gappers' who were taking time off to work (Lumsden and Stanwick, 2012; Hoe, 2014).

#### F. Employment during High School

Research shows that employment during high school was only meaningfully related to Canadian students delaying their post-secondary education when the students worked more than 20 hours per week in their final year of high school (Hango and de Broucker, 2007; Tomkowicz

Source: Birch and Miller (2007)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>According to Birch and Miller (2007), "Socioeconomic status is measured by the Australian Bureau of Statistics' 'Index of Economic Resources'. This index contains information on the economic resources of families living in particular regions. A high score on the index suggests that the region has a higher proportion of high-income families, a lower proportion of low-income families, a larger number of households living in homes with four or more bedrooms, and higher rent and mortgage payments."

and Bushnik, 2003). Hango (2011a) found that high school graduates who worked more than 20 hours per week in their final year of high school had a 15 month median delay between high school and their entry into post-secondary education, compared to a median delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week. The relationship between students' employment during high school and delaying their post-secondary education is likely based on these students' socioeconomic status. Given the extensive time commitment working 20 hours per week represents to a full-time high school student, it is likely that the student would only be working that much in high school if it was at least in part out of necessity.

# **G. Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred Entry Policies**

It is increasingly popular for universities to allow their incoming students to defer acceptance, and the take-up of scholarships, for a year (and sometimes longer). For example, Harvard University in particular encourages its students to consider taking a gap year in order to avoid "burnout" from years of intense schooling (Fitzsimmons et al., 2017). Hango (2011a) reports that most Canadian universities now allow for such arrangements. This option is very attractive to youth planning on taking a gap year as it establishes a firm endpoint for their gap year, which is likely to soothe their parents' fears that taking a gap year will result in their child

# Box 2: Sample of Gap Year Programs offered by Universities

- University of Regina UR Gap Year Program: this program allows newly-admitted students to take a year off after high school before entering the University of Regina and defers the awarding of any University of Regina funded entrance scholarships they have qualified for. The University provides these students with services to help them prepare for their first year of study and beyond, such as career counseling, academic advising, and more. In addition, it is possible for students in the UR Gap Year Program to earn credit towards the UR Guarantee Program during their gap year.
- **Princeton University Bridge Year Program**: this nine-month program provides newly-accepted students with the opportunity to defer their enrollment at Princeton to volunteer in a community in another country, where they also spend time learning the language, living with a local family, and engage in cultural enrichment activities. In the 2016-2017 academic year, the program placed 35 students at locations in Bolivia, Brazil, China, India, and Senegal.
- University of Canberra Gap Year Plus: this program allows newly-accepted students to gain university credit for gap year activities prior to their enrollment at Canberra. The student needs to indicate their intention before the gap year and collect evidence of learning during the year, which can then be used as a portfolio the following year. Students are also required to undertake a course in their first year where they discuss and reflect on their gap experience (Lumsden and Stanwick, 2012).

never returning to school after high school graduation. Hango (2011a:31) also argues that youth with deferred acceptance have their future "more clearly defined and, as a result, they may be able to plan their gap period activities somewhat better than high school graduates who have not yet been accepted into a post-secondary education program."

Moreover, several universities go even further than allowing (or even encouraging) deferred acceptance and provide gap year programs for students who will attend their institutions following their gap year, and may even provide at-need students with funding to enroll in the gap year program. Some universities that offer international volunteering programs to students who accept offers to attend the university but defer entry include the Princeton University Bridge Year Program, Tufts University '1+4 Program', University of Regina 'UR Gap Year Program' and University of Canberra 'Gap Year Plus' Program (Lovestrand, 2015: 21). These programs are detailed in Box 2.

# **H. Summary**

Based on the preceding discussion, Table 5 provides a summary of the factors influencing youth's decision to delay post-secondary education.

Factor	Author	Result (for delayers or gappers specifically)
	O'Shea	Gappers in Britain seek a channel for personal growth that allows them
	(2011)	to develop greater independence than is possible when they are enrolled in post-secondary education.
	Hulstrand	Gappers in the United States can gain confidence, direction, and life
Personal	(2010)	experience from their gap year experience.
Growth	Jones (2004	Gappers in Britain seek to gain a broader horizon of experiences, attain
		personal life skills, and contribute to society.
	Hango	Delayers in Canada can engage in self-discovery and become better
	(2011a)	citizens from having experiences outside of the post-secondary
		education system, which benefits society as well.
	Hango	On average, Canadian youth with higher marks in high school delayed
	(2011a)	entry to post-secondary education for a shorter period of time than
Academic		youth with lower marks in high school.
Performance in High School	Hoe (2014)	U.S. students with lower marks in high school were more likely to delay entry to post-secondary education than high performers.
	Birch and	Australian students who performed worse during their high school
	Miller	education were generally more likely to delay entry to post-secondary
	(2007)	education.

Table 5: Summary of Factors Influencing Youth's Decisions to Delay Post-Secondary
Education

#### Table 5 (Continued)

Uncertainty Regarding Future(2011)future life plans, such as their program of study, career goals, and choice of where to live.Uncertainty Regarding Future EducationSome US students needed to delay because they failed to gain acceptance into their preferred program or educational institution and did not have an alternative plan ready. Crawford and Cribb (2012)When asked about it before completing their secondary education, 28 break before their post-secondary education. Lumsden and Stanwick (2012)Parental Attitudes(And Cribb (2012)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education.Parental AttitudesCanadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education.In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children to their post-secondary education that meir children to pursue higher education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.Family Socioeconomic Status and Financial ConstraintsGoldrick- Rab and Hango (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in to post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the lowert quintile.Family Socioeconomic Miller (2007)Birch and (2012)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic duartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the lowert quintile.Family Socioeconomic Status Financial ConstraintsBirch and (2011a)8.4 per cent of students in the lowest socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary education, comp		0101	
Uncertainty Regarding Future EducationWells and Lynch (2012)Some US students needed to delay because they failed to gain acceptance into their preferred program or educational institution and (2012) the nasked about it before completing their secondary education, 28 per cent of British self-identified gappers had not planned to take a break before their post-secondary education. Lumsden and (2012)Parental Attitudes(Hango, 2011a)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education if their parents have the expectation that their children to pursue on to higher education.Parental Attitudes(Hango, 2011a)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education if their parents have the expectation that their children to pursue higher education.Family Socioeconomic Status and Hango and MillerIn Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.Family Socioeconomic Status and Financial ConstraintsGoldrick- Birch and MillerOnly 5 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the lighest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Family SocioolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.		O'Shea (2011)	
Oncertainty Regarding Future Education(2012) 		Wells and	Some US students needed to delay because they failed to gain
Regarding(2012)(2012)(2012)Future EducationCrawford and (2012)When asked about it before completing their secondary education, 28 per cent of British self-identified gappers had not planned to take a break before their post-secondary education.Lumsden and (2012)59.5 per cent, of Australian delayers did not intend on delaying entry to post-secondary education after their final year of high school.Parental AttitudesCanadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education if their parents have the expectation that their children will go on to higher education.AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.FamilyGoldrick- Rab and Hang (2007)In Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.FamilyGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months fo	Uncertainty	•	
Future EducationCrawford and (2012)When asked about it before completing their secondary education, 28 break before their post-secondary education.Lumsden and Stanwick (2012)per cent of British self-identified gappers had not planned to take a break before their post-secondary education.Parental Attitudes(Hango, 2011a)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education.Parental AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education.Parental AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.Family Socioeconomic Status and ConstraintsIn Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.Family Socioeconomic Status and MillerGoldrick- Birch and MillerOnly 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile.Family SochoolBirch and Miller8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Family SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high scho	2	· · ·	
Education(2012) Lumsden and Stanwick (2012)break before their post-secondary education.Parental Attitudes(Hango, 2011a)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education after their final year of high school. (2012)Parental AttitudesCanadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education if their parents have the expectation that their children will go on to higher education.AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.Family Socioeconomic Status and ConstraintsGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)In Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic distribution delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.Family Socioeconomic Status and Financial ConstraintsGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary encomment, compared with 31 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours pe			
Lumsden and Stanwick (2012)59.5 per cent, of Australian delayers did not intend on delaying entry to post-secondary education after their final year of high school. (2012)Parental(Hango, 2011a)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education if their parents have the expectation that their children twill go on to higher education.AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.FamilyHango and de (2007)In Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.FamilyGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary encloment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch and Miller (2007)& per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during High SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked	Education		
and Stanwick (2012)59.5 per cent, of Australian delayers did not intend on delaying entry to post-secondary education after their final year of high school.Parental(Hango, 2011a)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education if their parents have the expectation that their children will go on to higher education.ParentalCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.FamilyIn Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who de complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.FamilyGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of students in the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch and Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during High SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have the		· /	oreak before then post-secondary education.
Stanwick (2012)post-secondary education after their final year of high school.Parental Attitudes(Hango, 2011a)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education if their parents have the expectation that their children will go on to higher education.AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.FamilyHango and deIn Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who de complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.FamilyGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch and Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during High SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.			59.5 per cent, of Australian delayers did not intend on delaying entry to
Parental Attitudes(Hango, 2011a)Canadian youth are less likely to delay their entry into post-secondary education if their parents have the expectation that their children will go on to higher education.AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.Hango and deIn Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic Status and Han (2011)Family SocioeconomicGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)Birch and duiller (2007)Birch and Miller (2007)Birch and during High SchoolHango (2011a)Employment during Intitutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Post-Secondary Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week. Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future beter defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do		Stanwick	
Parental Attitudes2011a)education if their parents have the expectation that their children will go on to higher education.Parental AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.FamilyHango and de Broucker (2007)In Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.Family SocioeconomicBirch and Miller (2007)Ne year cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch and Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during High SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Ca		· · /	
Parental Attitudeson to higher education.AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.Hango and de Broucker (2007)In Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.Family SocioeconomicGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch and Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the high- middle quartile. However 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary unsitution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do		· •	
AttitudesCrawford and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children taking a gap year.Hango and deHango and deIn Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomicFamilyGoldrick- Rab andOnly 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch and Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the high- middle quartile.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do	Donontol	2011a)	
and Cribb (2012)In the United Kingdom parents who expect their children to pursue higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.Hango and deIn Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.FamilyGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch and (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during High SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do		Crawford	
(2012)higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.(2012)Hango and deIn Canada, youth from higher socioeconomic backgrounds who complete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.FamilyGoldrick- (2007)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.SotiaceBirch and (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during High SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do	1 IIIIIIIII		
Addecomplete university degrees were less likely to delay the start of their post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.Family Socioeconomic Status Financial ConstraintsGoldrick- Rab and Han (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch and Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			higher education are more supportive of their children taking a gap year.
Family Socioeconomic Status FinancialBroucker (2007)post-secondary education than youth from families of lower socioeconomic status.Goldrick- Rab Status FinancialGoldrick- Rab Han (2011)Only 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch and Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' DeferredHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do		•	
Family Socioeconomic Status Financial(2007)socioeconomic status.Goldrick- Status FinancialGoldrick- RabOnly 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during High SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' DeferredHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			
Family SocioeconomicGoldrick- RabOnly 5 per cent of American high school graduates from households in the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.StatusandHan (2011)secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirchand8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment duringHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' DeferredHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			
Socioeconomic StatusRaband Han (2011)the top quintile of the socioeconomic distribution delay their post- secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirchand Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do	Family		
Statusand FinancialHan (2011)secondary enrolment, compared with 31 per cent of those from families from the lowest quintile.ConstraintsBirch Miller (2007)Birch and Miller (2007)8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			
ConstraintsBirch and Miller8.4 per cent of Australian students in the lowest socioeconomic quartile delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			
Miller (2007)Miller delayed post-secondary education, compared to 6.2 per cent of students in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			-
(2007)in the low-middle quartile, and 4.1 per cent of students in the high- middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do	Constraints		
middle quartile. However, the trend reversed in the highest quartile, where 6.5 per cent of students delayed.Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			
Employment duringHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do		(2007)	
Employment during SchoolHango (2011a)Canadian youth who worked over 20 hours per week in their final year of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions'Hango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			
Employment during School(2011a)of high school on averaged delayed entry to post-secondary education by 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions' Deferred EntryHango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do	Encelary ent	Hango	
Schoolby 15 months, compared to a delay of 3 or 4 months for every category of students who had worked fewer hours per week.Post-Secondary Institutions'Hango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do		(2011a)	
Post-Secondary Institutions'Hango (2011a)Canadian youth who obtain a deferral of their acceptance into a post- secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			
Institutions' Deferred Entry(2011a)secondary institution have their future better defined and therefore may be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do		Hanas	
Deferred Entry be better able to plan their delay period activities than delayers who do			
		(2011a)	
	Policies		not did not obtain deferred acceptance.

# V. Cost and Benefits of Taking a Gap Year

As shown in the previous sections, there are different reasons why youth may take a gap year (as narrowly defined in this report) as well as many different activities that gappers may participate in during this period. Heath (2007) argues that the impact of taking a gap year

therefore depends greatly on the student's background and their unique gap year experience. Generally, international travel and volunteering experiences lead to greater independence and character-building, while working domestically, an increasingly common choice, is a less valued gap year experience (Heath, 2007). Martin et al. (2013) argue that activities focused around personal development, such as volunteering, travelling, or enrolling in part-time study in classes youth find personally interesting (such as language or art classes) have a positive impact on academic outcomes in later post-secondary education. In contrast, spending the gap year working may distract students from educational goals (Heckhausen et al., 2013).

Hoe (2014:vii) describes how students who delay are less likely to enroll in a university (rather than a college or diploma program) and complete a bachelor's degree, while students who delay specifically for a gap year, in order to travel, volunteer, and participate in other personal growth activities, experience "higher academic performance and increased maturity" in their post-secondary education. Crawford and Cribb (2012:36) note how along these lines there are "two distinct groups of gap year takers" (although according to the definitions used in this report, this statement would refer to gappers versus other delayers).

However not all students have all gap year options available to them; indeed, "the most highly rated forms of gap-year experience remain the preserve of those from more affluent backgrounds" (Heath, 2007:98). If students from lower-income background elect to participate in costly gap year activities such as travel and international volunteering, they may be saddled with significant debt when they return to school (Jones, 2004).

This section will review the costs and benefits of delaying education generally—and taking a gap year specifically—that are explored in the literature. The outcomes of taking a gap year will be explored in four main areas: the students' lifetime earnings; personal growth and development; academic performance in post-secondary education; and employment and earnings following graduation from post-secondary education. Many of these areas correspond with reasons for youth to take a gap year, which allows for an assessment of whether the outcomes from taking a gap year justify students' motivation to do so.

#### **A. Lifetime Earnings**

Some researchers have found that students who delay their entry into post-secondary education earn less following graduation than students who entered post-secondary education directly following high school. Controlling for other variables, Crawford and Cribb (2012) found that delayers in Britain earned 8.9 per cent less per hour at age 30 than those who had entered post-secondary education directly.<sup>17</sup> This difference grew slightly, to 9.5 per cent, by age 34, and then decreased to a still-considerable 6.5 per cent at age 38. Similarly, Holmund et al. (2008) studied a sample of Swedish adults, some of whom had delayed their post-secondary education, and found that at age 40 those who had delayed for two years earned 40 to 50 per cent less annually than those who entered post-secondary education. There is no research on the lifetime earnings of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Crawford and Cribb (2012) controlled for a range of variables, including those related to work experience, various indicators of socioeconomic status, academic ability and performance, "risky behaviours" and others. A full list of control variables is included in Crawford and Cribb (2014:59), Appendix A.

gappers specifically compared to students who enter post-secondary education directly, but differences in earnings outcomes more immediately after completing post-secondary education are discussed below.

#### **B.** Personal Growth and Development

Many youth cite the opportunity for personal development as a major motivating factor for taking a gap year. Some studies have found that gap years do indeed serve this purpose. For example, a study of South African gappers who reported gains in confidence, independence, selfawareness, and life skills (Coetzee and Bester, 2009). O'Shea (2011) similarly notes that British gappers reported a smoother transition into life at university, for example because they already had experience living away from home or with a roommate. As well, the British students who took a gap year reported working harder in school and having a higher level of intellectual development (O'Shea, 2011). Martin (2010) also found that in Australia participation in a gap year increased the students' "adaptive behaviour."

However, on a cautionary note, a small number of studies call into question the usefulness of international gap year experiences that supposedly lead to personal development and increased maturity. Lyons et al. (2012) find insufficient empirical evidence to prove that volunteer travel experiences create a sense of global citizenship and contribute personal development, while Simpson (2004:690) argues that the "gap year industry" creates false impressions in gappers' minds of both the reasons behind, for example, global inequality, and the importance of gappers' contributions to solving these issues.

#### **C. Academic Performance in Post-Secondary Education**

Even before they enter post-secondary education, delaying can benefit youth by giving them time to make a better decision on their program and institution of post-secondary education. Hango (2008) reports that many Canadian delayers claim the break assisted them in their decision to undertake further study. Ferrer and Menendez (2014:205) explain the impact of taking time off in Canada in terms of facilitating better matching between education and jobs by allowing delayers the opportunity to learn about returns on postsecondary education, what they are good at, or which skills the market demands.

One of the main debates in the literature regarding delayed entry to post-secondary education is whether a delay increases the likelihood of the student dropping out of post-secondary education before graduation. The evidence from the literature is mixed. Hango and de Broucker (2007) find that 5.0 per cent of Canadian students surveyed in YITS had left their post-secondary education before graduation after having delayed entry, compared to 4.9 per cent of all YITS respondents that left post-secondary education before graduation for the effect of dropping out without a degree. In addition, Hoe (2014) found that, controlling for the effect of other factors, for American youth delaying post-secondary education for travel specifically was associated with a 34 per cent higher chance of attaining a bachelor's degree compared to those who did delayed for non-travel reasons.

On the other hand, Wells and Lynch (2012) found that delayers in the United States were less likely to complete a bachelor's degree, and Roska and Velez (2012) reached a similar conclusion for American students even after controlling for academic performance in high school and students' family responsibilities that may lead them to drop out of post-secondary education. Bozick and DeLuca (2005) also found that in the United States those who delay by a year are 64 per cent less likely to complete a bachelor's degree than those who enroll immediately after graduating high school, and that the effect was more detrimental for youth in the lowest socioeconomic quartile and youth with low test scores. Attewell et al. (2012) explain the negative influence of delays on degree completion through a loss of 'academic momentum', arguing, based on trends in the number of courses taken per semester, that the speed with which students in the United States progress through the early phase of their university education significantly affects their likelihood of completing their degree. However, these studies did not specify what activities the students were participating in during their time off.

The evidence is much clearer regarding the impact of delaying entry on grades in postsecondary education. Hoe (2014) found that in the United States all delays in general led to higher GPAs, and that both delaying post-secondary education for work as well as delaying for travel each led to a 0.17-point higher GPA in the student's first year, compared to students who did not delay. Over the students' entire post-secondary education, a travel delay led to a 0.20point higher GPA than if the student had enrolled in post-secondary education directly from high school. Birch and Miller (2007:341) found the effect in Australia of delaying on grades was stronger for students "on the lower-end of the marks distribution," due to increased academic motivation and more certainty about their choice to be enrolled in post-secondary education. Lumsden and Stanwick (2012) explain Australian gappers' better academic performance may be because they are better organized, more mature, more adaptable, and more motivated to study after their time away from school.

The effect was particularly strong in a study of South African universities where students reported feeling "refreshed and re-energised, ready and even eager to engage in academic activities" (Nieman, 2013:139). In addition, Martin et al. (2013) point to Australian gappers' ability to link the experiences and practical knowledge that they gained on the gap year to their classroom learning, although this effect would be stronger for students in some programs than others (for example, international development compared to engineering).

## D. Employment and Earnings following Post-Secondary Education

Another often publicized benefit about gap years is that they provide youth with experience that makes them more attractive candidates on the job market upon graduation from post-secondary education. In some cases, this may be because their gap year experience is directly related to their career after graduating from post-secondary education—for example, if a gapper volunteered in a developing country during their gap year, and then went to work at a development non-governmental organization (NGO) after completing university. Even if their career is unrelated to their gap year activities, a gapper's experience could give them important skills that are valuable in any organization such as team work, communication, and punctuality. In either case, delaying entry to post-secondary education would lead gappers, and potentially all delayers, to have a higher employment rate after graduating from post-secondary education as well as higher average earnings.

There is no evidence regarding the effect of taking a gap year specifically on employment rates after completing post-secondary education. However, it is likely that the positive impact on employment rates of delaying entry to post-secondary education would be similar for those who took a gap year. According to the 2004 Statistics Canada Youth in Transitions Survey of 22-24 year olds in the Canadian labour market, among those who graduated from post-secondary education, delayers experienced higher employment rates than those who proceeded directly to post-secondary education after high school. These results are presented in Figure 5. For university graduates, delayers had an employment rate of 87.5 per cent, compared to 79.6 per cent for graduates that entered university directly from high school (Hango and de Broucker, 2007). The difference for college graduates was similar, though of a lesser magnitude: an 86.2 per cent employment rate for college delayers and 85.1 per cent for non-delayers. Hango and de Broucker (2007) argue this difference in employment rates is mainly due to delayers having more job experience than non-delayers, especially when employment rates are measured only a couple years after graduation, at ages 22 to 24. However, this analysis did not control for time spent out of school and therefore does not account for the potential advantage in previous work experience that delayers have over non-delayers.



Figure 5: Employment Rates of 22-24 Year Olds in the Labour Market in Canada, 2004

Source: Hango and de Broucker (2007)

However, it is important to note that the positive influence of delaying on employment only occurred for those who completed their degree. Delayers who did not finish their postsecondary education had an employment rate lower than non-delayers with the same amount of education, and even lower than those who did not delay and had no postsecondary education at all (Hango and de Broucker, 2007). This suggests that the lack of commitment signalled by starting, but abandoning a post-secondary education is very poorly received on the labour market.

In comparison to the positive effect of delaying on employment rates, the evidence regarding earnings differences between delayers and non-delayers is mixed. Using data from the National Survey of Graduates (NSG), Ferrer and Menendez (2014) found that in Canada delaying had a positive effect on wages earned in 1997 by youth who had completed their postsecondary education in 1995. In general, university graduates who delayed entry to postsecondary education enjoyed a wage premium of 4.8 per cent compared to non-delayers. The effect was particular strong for university graduates from science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) programs who delayed, as they enjoyed a 10 per cent wage premium above non-delayers. University graduates who reported that they were working during their delay also benefited in particular, as they enjoyed a wage premium of 6.4 per cent above non-delayer university graduates. Ferrer and Menendez (2014) also tested the relationship between delaying and earnings post-graduation when controlling for the unemployment rate in the year before enrollment in post-secondary education (when the decision to enroll was made), under the assumption that a high unemployment rate represented a lower opportunity cost of enrolling in post-secondary education and thus less of an incentive to delay. In this analysis, Ferrer and Menendez (2014) found a 9.8 per cent wage premium for students who delayed between high school and a BA, and 14.3 per cent for students who delayed between high school and college.

In contrast to the above results, however, Hango (2008) examined more recent data from the 2004 Youth in Transitions Survey of 22-24 year olds in the Canadian labour market and found a negative relationship between delaying entry into post-secondary education and earnings upon graduation. Specifically, he found that the median weekly earnings for non-delayer university graduates was 625 dollars per week, compared to 540 dollars per week for delayers who graduated from university.<sup>18</sup>For college graduates the magnitude was far smaller: the median weekly earnings of non-delayers was 552 dollars per week, compared to 550 dollars for college delayers (Hango, 2008).<sup>19</sup> The different effects of delay on employment rates and on earnings may be explained by delayers having a higher likelihood of finding a job due to their more extensive labour market experience compared to non-delayers, but that delayers have also spent less time in their current job post-completion of post-secondary education and therefore "less time to develop an earnings trajectory." (Hango, 2008:6)

Delaying entry into post-secondary education generally has a positive effect on Canadian youth's labour market outcomes, although the evidence is clearer for the effect on employment rates than on earnings. The magnitude of the positive relationship between delaying and employment rates and earnings is also larger for university graduates than community college

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>This study only included respondents who were employed, and reported data on their total weekly earnings from all jobs to account for the fact that 15 per cent of the sample reported earnings from several different jobs. (Hango and de Broucker, 2007)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Hango (2008) did not offer any explanation for college graduates (both delayers and non-delayers) earning more than delayers that graduated from university. Given that this analysis did not control for time spent outside education (and therefore work experience) and that college degree programs are typically shorter than university degree programs, it is possible that the college graduates' earnings exceeded the university graduate delayers' earnings because, by age 22-24, the former had already spent more time working post-graduation and were therefore 'further up the earnings chain' than delayers who had more recently begun working after graduating from university.

graduates. Both Ferrer and Menendez (2014) and Hango (2008) explain the differences in labour market outcomes by pointing to the importance of delayers' previous experience in the labour market, which could make them more attractive candidates as well as better navigators of the labour market job-finding process. Heath (2007) points to the importance of the soft skills delayers attain from their previous experience—which, importantly for gappers, can be developed from non-work experiences such as volunteering abroad and domestic community service. She cites a survey of job recruiters by Community Service Volunteers, a London-based charity, which found that 88 per cent of respondents agreed that graduates who had taken a gap year were more likely than students who entered post-secondary education directly to have the 'soft skills' many employers seek (Heath, 2007).

# VI. Public Policies to Incentivize Youth to Take a Gap Year

Earlier sections of this report have shown there are potential benefits to youth who take a gap year (as defined in this report) between high school and post-secondary education. In particular, the research examined in this report shows that, as compared to students who commence their post-secondary education directly after high school, gappers are more academically motivated when they enter post-secondary education, have a better post-secondary academic performance, and enjoy higher employment rates and a wage premium when they complete their post-secondary education.

A group of youth that should be targeted in particular are youth who are able to gain acceptance into post-secondary education but lack academic motivation or direction, and would benefit from the extra-curricular learning experiences afforded by a gap year. However, many of these benefits are only accessible to students who can take a gap year where they travel, volunteer internationally, or engage in other personal growth activities, rather than students who must delay their post-secondary education to work at home. Therefore public policies around gap years should aim to not only incentivize students to take a gap year, but also to make this option more accessible to students who are less able to take a gap year due to their socioeconomic background. On the other hand, delays between high school and post-secondary education that are unlikely to benefit youth, such as those spent in unstructured activities, should be discouraged.

There are several public policies related to youth taking a gap year that the government could consider. Importantly, the government should work in collaboration with stakeholders such as post-secondary institutions, gap year program providers, high schools, and domestic community service organizers in order to maximize engagement with youth and the impact of government policies in this area.

Collect better information about delayers: The government should work to fill the knowledge gap around gap years in Canada, for example by collecting data on this topic through the Statistics Canada National Graduates Survey and by reinstituting the Youth in Transitions Survey. The survey questionnaires could be expanded to ask whether respondents took a gap year, what their reasons for delaying entry into post-secondary education were, and what activities they participated in during their time between graduating high school and beginning post-secondary education.

- Better provision of gap year information: The government should aim to increase youth's access to high quality information about the types of gap year experiences available and the costs and benefits associated with each option. One option is for the government to provide seed funding for an agency, likely non-governmental, to provide information on gap year opportunities to high school students and guidance counsellors, share best practices among gap year program provides, andmonitor the quality of services provided by the gap year industry (perhaps even accreditation), similar to the services provided by the (private) American Gap Association in the U.S and the Year Out Group in the U.K.
- Financial incentives to individuals to take a gap year: The government could provide youth with means-tested financial incentives to take a gap year and to make the option of taking a structured gap year more accessible to all youth, regardless of their socioeconomic background. These could take the form of loans to youth taking a gap year, high-interest specialized savings accounts that youth could pay into (for example, with their earnings from working during part of their gap year) in order to save money for an unpaid gap year experience, or allowing youth with proof of deferred post-secondary education acceptance to use part of their family's Registered Education Savings Plan (RESP) toward a structured gap year experience.
- > Financial incentives to institutions to incentivize gap years: Rather than the government providing financial incentives directly to individuals to take a gap year and make the option of taking a gap year more accessible to all youth, the government could deliver financial incentives through post-secondary institutions. One option would be to incentivize post-secondary institutions to offer alreadyadmitted students structured gap year programs such as those discussed in Box 3. Alternatively, the Canadian Council on Learning (2008:5) suggested postsecondary institutions could offer incoming students bursaries, to be partially disbursed prior to and during the gap year with the remainder of the bursary disbursed upon enrolment in first-year classes. Offering these bursaries to gap year students would afford lower-income students the opportunity to take a gap year while simultaneously providing an incentive for them to return to postsecondary education after. The government could also encourage post-secondary institutions to offer course credit to students who enroll in accredited gap year programs, and play a role to match post-secondary institutions with members of the gap year industry.<sup>20</sup>
- Support for guidance counsellors on gap year issues: Guidance counsellors located in high schools help students plan their education and career paths after high school. The government could take steps to better educate high school

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>For example, in the past Capilano University, Cégep Marie-Victorin, and George Brown College have awarded credits to students who had previously completed the Katimavik program.

teachers and guidance counsellors on the benefits of taking a gap year and the opportunities available to students. One option would be for high schools to have one guidance counsellor specialized in assisting youth who are interested in taking a gap year.

- Highlighting successful gap year experiences: The government could popularize the gap year experiences of various Canadian youth through its various advertising channels. By highlighting these youth's gap year experiences and how taking a gap year benefited them later on in life, youth could be incentivized to take a gap year themselves.
- Moral suasion by political leaders to take a gap year: The government could have well-known figures affiliated with the government to speak to youth on the benefits of taking a gap year. For example, Hoe (2014:19) reports that the former United Kingdom Foreign Secretary Jack Straw has publicly promoted taking a gap year, arguing that, "taking a gap year is a great opportunity for young people to broaden their horizons, making them more mature and responsible citizens. Our society can only benefit from travel which promotes character, confidence, decision-making skills." Moreover, Lyons et al. (2012) claim that the public perception of gap year activities in the United Kingdom grew more positive after Prince William and Prince Harry both took a gap year to perform volunteer work in developing countries. Malia Obama has also been recognized recently for choosing to take a gap year before enrolling at Harvard University for her undergraduate degree.
- Financial support for structured gap year programs: The government could both organize new structured gap year programs for Canadian youth and give financial support on a needs basis to existing programs that meet certain quality and non-profit criteria. For example, the government could create a Canadian version of the popular AmeriCorps program, which pays American youth a modest stipend to volunteer in an American community (Lovestrand, 2015). The government could also consider providing financial support to programs such as Katimavik that relied on funding from the federal government in the past.<sup>21</sup>

# VII. Lacuna in Knowledge and Agenda for Further Research

While there has been past research on the incidence, motivating factors, and costs and benefits of youth delaying entry to post-secondary education generally, important gaps remain in our knowledge related to gap years, especially in the Canadian context. These deficiencies in our knowledge base require further research. Issues and questions needing more study are highlighted below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Katimavik is a program founded in 1977 to "develop youth and foster civic engagement through community service" across Canada. It has experienced several periods of budget difficulties and subsequent service reductions (most recently since 2012), and is currently awaiting funding after a commitment in the Federal government 2016 budget for a youth service initiative (Katimavik, 2017)

- The definition of 'gap year' should be standardized in the literature on the topic, in order to ensure consistency and comparability between different research studies.
- What is the distribution of the types of gap year activity among gappers in Canada?
- > Where do gappers obtain their information about gap year opportunities?
- What is the impact of taking a gap year on labour market outcomes beyond the horizon of 2 to 3 years after completing post-secondary education?
- How do gap year experiences of students at more prestigious, 'high status' postsecondary institutions compare to the gap year experiences of students at other institutions?
- What gap year issues emerge uniquely in Quebec? Do youth in Quebec tend to take a gap year before or after CÉGEP, and what are the implications of each pathway?
- Can the benefits of taking a gap year be replicated by working and going abroad during summers, for exchange semesters, and for international co-op semesters while avoiding potential costs of taking a gap year that come with delaying the start of work following completion of post-secondary education?
- Are the activities that youth participate in during their delay between high school graduation and entering post-secondary education related to the type of post-secondary institution they eventually enroll at?
- Ferrer and Menendez (2014) base their analysis of delayers on an earlier version of the Statistics Canada and Human Resources Development Canada National Graduates Survey (NGS) that studied youth who completed post-secondary education in 1995.A more recent version of the National Graduates Survey was released in 2013 on the graduating class of 2009-2010, so an updated analysis along the lines of Ferrer and Menendez (2014) could be possible using the NGS 2013 microdata.
- The Statistics Canada Youth in Transition Survey (YITS) should be continued, as the last cycle of YITS concluded in 2008-2009.
- What is the relationship between quantitative measures of engagement in school (such as truancy, or involvement in school-organized extracurricular activities) and incidence of taking a gap year?

What are the personal characteristics of students who take gap years? For example, do gappers have a greater tendency to be leaders, outgoing, or risk takers?

# **VIII. Conclusion**

This report has provided an overview of issues related to youth delaying entry to postsecondary education, and youth taking gap years specifically. The literature on delayers and gappers in Canada was reviewed, as well as for youth in the United States, Britain, Australia, and other countries. It was found that youth are more motivated to take a gap year if they desirepersonal growth and independence, lack academic motivation and are uncertain about their future education plans. Youth were also more likely to take a gap year if they came from a high socioeconomic status family, worked fewer than 20 hours per week in their final year of high school, and post-secondary institutions were flexible in their policies regarding deferral of acceptances.

The report also examined the costs and benefits to taking a gap year (or, where data were not available, delaying post-secondary education in general) discussed in the literature. As compared to students who commence their post-secondary education directly after high school, gappers are more academically motivated when they enter post-secondary education, have a better post-secondary academic performance, and enjoy higher employment rates. Taking a gap year appears to particularly benefit students who are able to gain acceptance into post-secondary education but are uncertain about their educational and career goals and lack motivation in their studies.

Based on these findings, several policy options surrounding gap years were proposed. First, the government should improve data collection in order to improve our knowledge of trends around gap year taking among Canadian youth. In addition, the government has several options for increasing the take-up of gap years among Canadian youth, which range from financial commitments such as bursaries for youth taking gap years and support for structured gap year programs, to increasing public awareness and perceptions of gap years through statements from political leaders. Many of these policies require close collaboration with stakeholders such as post-secondary institutions, gap year program providers, high schools, and domestic community service organizers. The final section of the report identified several lacunae in our knowledge of gap years and proposed an agenda for further research on gap years.

Overall, taking a gap year appears to be a beneficial choice for Canadian youth, although the impacts of a gap year are often dependent on the youth's socioeconomic background and the activities they participate in during their gap year. While further research is necessary to robustly confirm the conclusion that gap years are a beneficial option for certain Canadian high school graduates and should be promoted by the government, the evidence currently available points in this direction.

### References

American Gap Association (2017) "About" American Gap Association, <u>http://www.americangap.org/about.php</u>.

Attewell, Paul, Scott Heil and Liza Reisel (2012) "What is academic momentum? And does it matter?" *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, Vol. 34, No.1, pp. 27-44, http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.3102/0162373711421958.

Birch, Elisa Rose and Paul Miller (2007) "The Characteristics of 'Gap-Year' Students and Their Tertiary Academic Outcomes," *The Economic Record*, Vol. 83, No.262, pp. 329-344, <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1475-4932.2007.00418.x/full</u>.

Bozick, Robert and Stefanie DeLuca (2005) "Better late than never? Delayed enrolment in the high school to college transition," *Social Forces*, Vol. 84, No. 1, pp. 527-550, <u>http://krieger.jhu.edu/sociology/wp-content/uploads/sites/28/2012/02/SF-Proofs-2.pdf</u>.

Bull, Holly (2006) "The possibilities of the gap year," *Chronicle Of Higher Education*, Vol. 52, No. 44, pp. 77, <u>http://www.chronicle.com/article/The-Possibilities-of-the-Gap/19829</u>.

Canadian Council on Learning (2008) "Gappers: Taking Time off between High School and Post-Secondary Studies," Canadian Council on Learning, Lessons in Learning, <u>http://en.copian.ca/library/research/ccl/gappers/gappers.pdf</u>.

Coetzee, Melinde, and Suzanne Bester (2009) "The possible value of a gap year: A case study," *South African Journal of Higher Education*, Vol. 23, No. 3, pp. 608-623, <u>http://www.repository.up.ac.za/dspace/bitstream/handle/2263/11909/Coetzee\_Possible(2009).pdf</u> ?sequence=1.

Counter, Rosemary (2013) "Students, Mind the Gap (Year)," *Maclean's*, February 12, <u>http://www.macleans.ca/society/life/mind-the-gap-2/</u>.

Crawford, Claire and Jonathan Cribb (2012) "Gap year takers: uptake, trends and long term outcomes." Institute for Fiscal Studies, Centre for Analysis of Youth Transitions and United Kingdom Department for Education,

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/219637/DFE-RR252.pdf.

Curtis, David D. (2014) "The 'Gap Year' in Australia: Incidence, Participant Characteristics and Outcomes," *Australian Economic Review*, Vol. 47, No. 1, pp. 107-114, <u>http://dspace2.flinders.edu.au/xmlui/bitstream/handle/2328/27819/Curtis\_GapYear\_AM2014.pdf</u> ?sequence=1.

Curtis, David D., Peter Mlotkowski, and Marilyn Lumsden (2012) "Bridging the Gap: Who Takes a Gap Year and Why?"Longitudinal Surveys of Australian Youth, Research Report, <u>http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED533077.pdf</u>.

Dubois, Julie. (2007) *Outcomes for alternate pathways*, Learning Policy Directorate, Human Resources and Social Development Canada, <u>http://publications.gc.ca/collection\_2007/hrsdc-rhdsc/HS28-114-2007E.pdf</u>.

Ferrer, Ana M., and Alicia Menendez (2014) "The Puzzling Effects of Delaying Schooling on Canadian Wages," *Canadian Public Policy*, Vol. 40, No. 3, pp.197-208, http://www.utpjournals.press/doi/pdf/10.3138/cpp.2013-001.

Ferrer, Ana, and Alicia Menendez. (2009) "The returns to flexible postsecondary education: The effect of delaying school." Canadian Labour Market and Skills Researcher Network, Working Paper 20, <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/6ff2/6503dbe8ad36f143e3fa525b801a6686fce5.pdf</u>.

Fitzsimmons, William, Marlyn E. McGrath, and Charles Ducey (2017) "Time Out or Burn Out for the Next Generation," Harvard College, Admissions and Financial Aid, <u>https://college.harvard.edu/admissions/preparing-college/should-i-take-time</u>.

Foley, Kelly and Fane Groes (2012) "The Consequences of Delaying Entrance into University." 46th Annual Conference of the Canadian Economics Association (CEA), Working Paper, <u>http://economics.ca/2012/papers/FK0003-1.pdf</u>.

Goldrick-Rab, Sara and Seong Won Han (2011) "Accounting for socioeconomic differences in delaying the transition to college" *The Review of Higher Education*, Vol. 34, No., pp. 423-445, https://muse.jhu.edu/article/420727/pdf.

Gururaj, Suchitra V. (2011) "Postsecondary Enrollment Delay and Associated Persistence Outcomes," University of Texas at Austin, PhD Thesis, <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2152/ETD-UT-2011-05-2721</u>.

Hango, Darcy (2008) "Taking time off between high school and postsecondary education: Determinants and early labour market outcomes,"Statistics Canada, *Education Matters: Insights on education, learning and training in Canada*, Vol. 4, No. 5, January, <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-004-x/2007005/article/10501-eng.htm</u>.

Hango, Darcy (2011a) "Length of Time between High School Graduation and Enrolling in Postsecondary Education: Who Delays and Who Does Not?" Statistics Canada, *Culture, Tourism and the Centre for Education Statistics: Research Papers*, No. 90, May 25, http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-595-m/81-595-m2011090-eng.pdf.

Hango, Darcy (2011b) "Length of Time between High School Graduation and Enrolling in Postsecondary Education: Who Delays and Who Does Not?" Statistics Canada, *Education Matters: Insights on education, learning and training in Canada*, Vol. 8, No. 4, December, http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-004-x/2011004/article/11594-eng.htm.

Hango, Darcy and Patrice de Broucker, Patrice (2007) "Education-to-Labour Market Pathways of Canadian Youth: Findings from the Youth in Transition Survey," Culture, Tourism and the Centre for Education Statistics Research Paper Series, Statistics Canada, 81-595-MIE, No. 054, <u>http://cprn.org/documents/48885\_EN.pdf</u>.

Heath, Sue (2007) "Widening the gap: pre-university gap years and the 'economy of experience'" *British Journalof Sociology Of Education*, Vol. 28, No.1, pp. 89-103, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/248992473\_Widening\_the\_gap\_Pre-university\_gap\_years\_and\_the\_'economy\_of\_experience'.

Heckhausen, Jutta, Esther S. Chang, Ellen Greenberger, and Chuansheng Chen (2013) "Striving for educational and career goals during the transition after high school: What is beneficial?" Journal of youth and adolescence, Vol. 42, No. 9, pp. 1385-1398, <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/81b8755x#page-1</u>.

Hoder, Randye (2014) "Why Your High School Senior Should Take a Gap Year," *Time*, May 14, <u>http://time.com/97065/gap-year-college/</u>.

Hoe, Nina (2014) "Not All Types Of Delay Are Equal: Postsecondary Delay In The U.S. and Taking A Gap Year," University of Pennsylvania Dissertations, Paper 1313, http://www.tussenjaartwijfels.info/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Not-All-Types-Of-Delay-Are-Equal\_-Postsecondary-Delay-In-The-U.s..pdf.

Hoe, Nina (2015) "American Gap Association National Alumni Survey: Report" American Gap Association and Temple University Institute for Survey Research, http://www.americangap.org/assets/2015%20NAS%20Report.pdf.

Holmlund, Bertil, Qian Liu, and Oskar Nordström Skans (2008) "Mind the gap? Estimating the effects of postponing higher education," CESifo working paper, No. 1792, https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/25837/1/517153114.PDF.

Horn, Laura, Emily Forrest Cataldi, and Anna Sikora (2005) "Waiting to Attend College: Undergraduates Who Delay Their Postsecondary Enrollment," National Center for Education Statistics, Postsecondary Education Descriptive Analysis Report, NCES 2005-152, <u>http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED485639.pdf</u>.

Hulstrand, Janet (2010) "Time Out: The Gap Year Abroad," *International Educator*, March and April, <u>https://www.nafsa.org/\_/File/\_/marapr10\_edabroad.pdf</u>.

Jones, Andrew (2004) "Review of Gap Year Provision," United Kingdom Department for Education and Skills, Research Report RR555, <u>http://www.tussenjaartwijfels.info/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/AndrewJonesforDfES2003.pdf</u>.

Katimavik (2017) "K History" Katimavik, https://katimavik.org/en/we-are/.

Kennedy, Monica, Karyn Ward, and Patricia Milne (2010) "GAP Year Plus: Preparing professionals, professionally," Journal of Cooperative Education and Internships, Vol. 44, No. 2, pp. 1-7, http://temp.creatingwow.com/new-journal.

King, Andrew (2011) "Minding the gap? Young people's accounts of taking a Gap Year as a form of identity work in higher education," Journal of Youth Studies, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 341-357.

http://epubs.surrey.ac.uk/774137/3/King%202011%20Minding%20the%20Gap%20pre%20publi cation%20version.pdf.

Krahn, Harvey and Julie Hudson (2006) Pathways of Alberta Youth Through the Post-secondary System Into the Labour Market: 1996-2003 (Ottawa, Ontario: Canadian Policy Research Networks) http://www.cprn.org/documents/46032 EN.pdf.

Lindzon, Jared (2015) "Gap Year Gains Traction in Canada," The Globe and Mail, June 9, http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/careers/career-advice/gap-year-gainstraction-in-canada/article24874294/.

Lovestrand, Amy (2015) "Taking a Gap Year before Starting Post-Secondary Education: Why It Benefits Some and Hurts Others," Memorial University of Newfoundland, Master's Thesis, https://shoulditakeagapyear.files.wordpress.com/2015/03/taking-a-gap-year.pdf.

Lumsden, Marilyn and John Stanwick (2012) "Who Takes a Gap Year and Why?" Longitudinal Surveys of Australian Youth, Briefing Paper 28, http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED533076.pdf.

Lyons, Kevin, Joan Hanley Stephen Wearing, and John Neil (2012). Gap year volunteer tourism: Myths of global citizenship? Annals of Tourism Research, Vol. 39, No. 1, pp. 361-378, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Stephen Wearing/publication/256987231 Gap Year Volu nteer Tourism Myths of Global Citizenship/links/563bb1de08ae405111a773f3.pdf.

Martin, Andrew J. (2010) "Should students have a gap year? Motivation and performance factors relevant to time out after completing school." Journal of Educational Psychology, Vol. 102, No. 3, pp. 561-576, http://www.tussenjaartwijfels.info/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Martin-2010-Should-students-have-a-gap-year-Motivation-and-performance-factors-relevant-to-time-outafter-completing-school..pdf.

Martin, Andrew J., Rachel Wilson, Gregory Liem, and Paul Ginns (2013) "Academic momentum at university/college: exploring the roles of prior learning, life experience, and ongoing performance in academic achievement across time," The Journal of Higher Education, Vol. 84, No. 5, pp. 640-674,

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00221546.2013.11777304.

McCulloch, William S. (2012) "Gap Year, a Year On" University of Alaska Fairbanks, Master's Thesis, https://gapyearon.files.wordpress.com/2012/12/gapyearproject\_web2012.pdf.

Mohn, Tanya (2011) "Take a Gap Year, With Your College's Blessing," *Forbes*, September 23, <u>http://www.forbes.com/sites/tanyamohn/2011/09/23/take-a-gap-year-with-your-colleges-blessing/#78e47e4a484f</u>.

Nieman, M. M. (2013) "South African students' perceptions of the role of a gap year in preparing them for higher education," Africa Education Review, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 132-147, http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/18146627.2013.786880.

Niu, Sunny and Marta Tienda (2013) "Delayed Enrollment and College Plans: Is There a Postponement Penalty?" The Journal of higher education, Vol. 84, No.1, pp. 1-27, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3627725/.

O'shea, Joseph (2011) "Delaying the academy: A gap year education." Teaching in Higher Education, Vol. 16, No. 5, pp. 565-577, http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13562517.2011.570438.

Parker, Philip D., Felix Thoemmes, Jasper J. Duineveld, and Katariina Salmela-Aro. (2015) "I wish I had (not) taken a gap-year? The psychological and attainment outcomes of different post-school pathways." *Developmental psychology*, Vol. 51, No. 3, pp. 323-33, <u>http://www.tussenjaartwijfels.info/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Parket-et-al.-2015-I-wish-I-had-not-taken-a-gap-year-The-psychological-and-attainment-outcomes-of-different-post-school-pathways.pdf</u>.

Polesel, John, and Malgorzata Klatt (2014) "University deferrers in metropolitan and nonmetropolitan Victoria: A longitudinal study," Australian Journal of Education, Vol. 58, No. 2, pp. 182-194, <u>http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0004944114523369</u>.

Roksa, Josipa, and Melissa Velez. "A late start: Delayed entry, life course transitions and bachelor's degree completion." *Social forces* (2012) <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/41682677</u> Rowan, Heather T. (2005) "Predictors of Delayed College Enrollment and the Impact of Socioeconomic Status," University of Maryland, College Park, PhD Thesis, <u>http://drum.lib.umd.edu/bitstream/handle/1903/2487/umi-umd-2364.pdf?sequence=1</u>.

Simpson, Kate (2004) "'Doing development': the gap year, volunteer-tourists and a popular practice of development," *Journal of International Development*, Vol.16, No. 5, pp. 681-692, https://eurekamag.com/pdf.php?pdf=004013021.

Sparks, Sarah (2010) "Research Suggests a 'Gap Year' Motivates Students," *Education Week*, September 21, http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2010/09/22/04gap-2.h30.html.

Stehlik, Tom (2010) "Mind the gap: School leaver aspirations and delayed pathways to further and higher education." *Journal of education and work*, Vol. 23, No.4, pp. 363-376, http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13639080.2010.492392.

Sweet, Robert, Paul Anisef, Rob Brown, David Walters, and Kelli Pythian (2010) "Post-High School Pathways of Immigrant Youth" (Toronto: Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario), http://www.heqco.ca/SiteCollectionDocuments/Pathways%20ENG.pdf.

Tenser, Lori Ilene (2015) "Stepping Off The Conveyor Belt: Gap Year Effects on the First Year College Experience," Boston College, PhD Dissertation, May, https://dlib.bc.edu/islandora/object/bc-ir:104364/datastream/PDF/view.

Tomkowicz, Joanna and Tracey Bushnik (2003) "Who Goes to Post-Secondary Education and When: Pathways Chosen by 20 Year-Olds," Culture, Tourism and the Centre for Education Statistics Research Paper Series, Statistics Canada, 81-595-MIE, Number 006, <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-595-m/81-595-m2003006-eng.pdf</u>.

Villareal, Pedro (2008) "Delaying the postsecondary education dream: A discrete-time event history analysis of financial aid information effects on time-to-initial enrollment," Pennsylvania State University, PhD. Thesis, <u>https://etda.libraries.psu.edu/files/final\_submissions/4958</u>.

Wellons, Sophia (2013) "Give Me a Break: A Study of the Gap Year" Western Oregon University, Honors Senior Theses/Projects, Paper 86, http://digitalcommons.wou.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1085&context=honors\_theses.

Wells, Ryan S. and Cassie M. Lynch (2012) "Delayed college entry and the socioeconomic gap: Examining the roles of student plans, family income, parental education, and parental occupation," *Journal of Higher Education*, Vol. 83, No. 5, pp. 671-697, https://muse.jhu.edu/article/483598/pdf.

White, Linda (2017) "Marketing a Gap Year to Potential Employers," *The Toronto Sun*, February 23,<u>http://www.torontosun.com/2017/02/23/marketing-a-gap-year-to-employers.</u>